FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 19 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 85,042 5TH DCA CASE NOS. 93-1832 and 93-1942

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN WALTER PENDER AND CLARENCE PENDER

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT.

AMENDED

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0471852 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In the instant cause, Respondents, Clarence and Kevin Walter Pender, father and uncle of the victim, were jointly tried for the Capital Sexual Battery of Clarence's daughter, Tara, who was approximately 10 years old at the time of her abuse.¹ They were tried before a jury of their peers and were found guilty as charged in the information.

Respondents appealed to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fifth District, which reversed, finding that the trial court committed per se reversible error when it refused to conduct a Richardson hearing, requested by Respondents' counsels, alleged failure by the State to produce a regarding an colposcopic photograph Respondents' trial counsels requested. However, the Fifth District concluded its opinion as follows: Ttis not subject to a harmless error analysis. Schopp v. State, 641 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), rev. granted, No. 84,061 (Fla. Oct. 13, 1994)." Slip Opinion, at 2-3.

Given the Fifth District's concluding sentence, the State respectfully requested that it Certify the Question posed in <u>Schopp</u>, which is now pending before this Honorable Court for ultimate determination. The State's motion was denied,

- 1 -

¹ Petitioner, The State of Florida, was the Appellee in the District Court, and the prosecution in the trial court. Respondents were the Appellants in the District Court, and the Defendants in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

necessitating its notice to invoke this Honorable Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This cause is most definitely suited to a harmless error review if this Honorable Court should determine to recede from <u>Smith v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986). It should, therefore, be allowed to join <u>Schopp v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, which is currently pending before it.

ARGUMENT

THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO JOIN SCHOPP V. STATE, CASE NO. 84,061, AS IT CONCERNS THE REVERSALS OF CAPITAL SEXUAL BATTERY CONVICTIONS OF FATHER AND UNCLE OF THE FATHER'S DAUGHTER, WHERE SUCH WOULD NOT BE THE CASE ΙF IΤ WAS SUBJECT TO HARMLESS ERROR REVIEW.

This cause is most definitely suited to a harmless error review if this Honorable Court should determine to recede from <u>Smith v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1986). Error was harmless in view of the following facts.

Mr. Sterling's, cross-examination of Dr. Tokarski as to the victim's scar, which would have appeared in the colposcopic photograph, was cursory at best.² (T.454-460) Rather, Mr. Sterling focused upon the victim's contraction of chlamydia. (T.454-460) The very fact that the victim had chlamydia at her age is evidence of Defendants' guilt. Mr. Ross, on behalf of the father, asked absolutely nothing about the victim's scar during his cross-examination, and did not mention the photograph in his motion for new trial. (R1:94-95; T.460-463) All of Mr. Ross' cross-examination concerned the matter of chlamydia. (T.460-463)

Besides the apparent true insignificance of the photograph to the defense, the record demonstrates "invited error." First, the record demonstrates that the prosecutor did not know of the photograph until just prior to Dr. Tokarski's testifying. (T.448-454) If this photograph was so crucial to the defense,

² In its opinion at page 2, the Fifth District mistakenly refered to Mr. Sterling as the father's counsel. The father's counsel was in fact Mr. Ross. Mr. Sterling represented the uncle, Kevin Walter.

why did it wait until its cross-examination of Dr. Tokarski to allege a discovery violation in her failure to provide it with the colposcopic photograph? Why did the defense fail to bring Dr. Tokarski's noncompliance with the alleged subpoena to the trial court's attention before trial commenced, so that it could be enforced?

Second, these questions should be viewed in the light of Mr. Sterling's experience in these types of cases as seen in his admission: "I have consulted other doctors on this photograph ---." (T.449) Whether he was speaking about the particular photograph in Dr. Tokarski's possession, or about photographs in other sexual abuse cases, his comment exhibits knowledge that such photographs exist, and where they originate.

Think about it! A criminal trial attorney who knows from his experience, by his own admission, of the existence of colposcopic photographs, and has consulted with doctors about them before, waits until the examining doctor in this cause takes the stand to allege he has not been provided the photograph. Consider the outset of Mr. Sterling's cross-examination of Dr. Tokarski:

> THE COURT: Mr. Ross, crossexamination? MR. STERLING: I am going to go first on this one. MR. ROSS: I am going to defer to Mr. Sterling, your Honor. THE COURT: Go ahead, Mr. Sterling.

> > - - - -

CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR. STERLING: Doctor, how long have you been 0 doing this? 13 years. Α said you used а And you Q colposcope? А Yes. Q And a colposcope has the ability take a photograph, is that to correct? Yes. Α Did you take a photograph in 0 this case? Α Yes, sir. You did? 0 Α Yes. And what did you do with that 0 photograph? A I have it. Did you produce it to the State Q Attorney? WeI didn't give it to him, no. Α discussed it. You discussed it --0 MR. STERLING: May we approach? THE COURT: You may. (T.447 - 448)

Why did Mr. Sterling want to go first? Why did his cross commence with the colposcopic photograph? The State respectfully submits it was because he knew from experience a photograph had most likely been taken; he had not received it yet; and he could attempt to allege a discovery violation. Mr. Sterling was sandbagging. If in fact this photograph was so crucial to the defense, given Mr. Sterling's familiarity of its use, why did he not do as the prosecutor suggested and go through the Child Protection Team to get it? (T.448-451) This was a clear and simple "Gotcha" maneuver. <u>State v. Belien</u>, 379 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

Another factor to be considered as to a harmless error review, concerns footnote 3 of the Fifth District's opinion. The State's analysis to this point has been based upon the assumption that the alleged subpoena duces tecum was in fact served upon Dr. Tokarski. However, as the State argued in its answer brief (p.12), where an insufficient record has been provided to the reviewing court, error cannot be presumed. <u>Howel v. State</u>, 337 So. 2d 823, 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); <u>Yearty v. State</u>, 354 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). The burden is on the appellant to produce a sufficient record to demonstrate reversible error. <u>State v. G.P.</u>, 588 So. 2d 253, 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>citing</u> <u>Sapp v. State</u>, 411 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

The State respectfully submits that the absence of this subpoena from the record is highly significant, particularly in light of the aforementioned tactics by the defense. Its existence, or lack thereof, would be a factor to consider under a harmless error analysis. Given the victim's contraction of chlamydia, which was the defense's primary concern, and rightfully so, the failure to disclose the colposcopic photograph was harmless error.

Justice has not been served in this cause given the aforementioned facts. The child victim, and the citizens of this State, should not be punished for the prosecutor's oversight. The Fifth District's reversal has culminated in a "windfall" for the father and uncle, who engaged in incestuous relations, which will scar the child for the remainder of her life. Not only has she been scarred by these transgressions, but she had to undergo the trauma of a trial, and because of the per se rule in Smith v. State, supra, will have to potentially undergo such trauma again. That such a result would derive from a photograph, the existence of which the defense knew about, but waited until the crossexamination of the examining doctor to allege a discovery violation, is outrageous. Such tactics should not be condoned, nor should such a result be accepted.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, authorities, and reasoning, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court allow this cause to join <u>Schopp v. State</u>, Case No. 84,061, as it concerns the question regarding harmless error analysis.