IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 80 1995#

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Glerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

KEVIN W. PENDER, and CLARENCE PENDER,

Respondents.

85,042

5th D.C.A. Case Nos. 93-1832 93-1942

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NOEL A. PELELLA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0396664 112 Orange Ave., Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts as presented in Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction, with the following additions:

At trial below, when defense counsel alleged a discovery violation and requested a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry, the trial court and the prosecution acknowledged that the prosecution had been aware of the existence of the photograph at issue, and that the State's witness having possession of the photo had been served with, but had refused to comply with a defense subpoena to produce the photo. <u>See</u>, Excerpt of trial transcript included as an Appendix to this brief, (hereinafter "A"), at Pp. 1-3,5. The trial court refused a specific request for inquiry to determine the prejudicial effect of the witness' refusal to produce the photograph. (A 4-7)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the District Court which has been cited as controlling authority in the instant case is presently under review by this Court. This Court therefore has jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court in this case.

However, Petitioner's brief does not contain a demonstration of the necessity for this Court's exercise of jurisdiction in this particular case.

ARGUMENT

THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO ACCEPT THE INSTANT CASE FOR REVIEW, AS THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS CASE WAS FOUNDED UPON A DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WHICH IS PRESENTLY UNDER REVIEW BY THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT. RESPONDENTS SUGGEST THAT EXERCISE OF THIS COURT'S JURISDICTION IS NOT NECESSARY IN THIS CASE.

The decision of the Fourth District Court in Schopp v. State, 641 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 4 DCA 1994), is presently before this Honorable Court for review, and in accordance with Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981), undersigned counsel is unable to argue that this Court has no discretionary jurisdiction to entertain the review now sought by the Petitioner. However, in what purports to be its brief on jurisdiction, the State has offered neither a rule, statute, nor the precedent cited hereinabove, with regard to the jurisdiction of this Court in the instant case. Instead, what the State has offered, is supposition and condemnation as to the tactics and strategy of trial counsel, personal opinion as to whether the error complained of was harmless; such opinion being based in turn upon the State's subjective opinion as to the merits of the defense presented at trial, and subjective outrage at the prospect of a retrial of this case, which the State blames on the Respondents and/or their counsel's "invited error."

First, it is important to note that defense counsel made a timely, specific objection, and a request for a remedy, which the

trial court refused. In refusing the request for a Richardson inquiry, the trial court invited the defense to file a motion for a new trial. (A 3,4) The reason for a new trial in this case, if that should occur, would be, as the District Court ruled, that the trial court refused to follow an established procedure for the making of a record of the basis for the trial court's ruling regarding a timely specific objection. Indeed, the very purpose of objections, and of a Richardson inquiry, is to provide the reviewing court with a basis for affirming the trial court's ruling, which, on appeal, would be presumed correct. If defense counsel had been "sandbagging", as the State now presumes, a Richardson inqury would have revealed that fact. If, as the State now presumes, the defense was not prejudiced by the failure of the State and its witness to provide discovery, proper inquiry would have revealed that fact as well. The defendants' objection was based on the clear refusal of the State and/or its witness to produce a photograph to which the defense was unquestionably entitled. (A 2,5,6) The District Court ruled in this case, that the defendants were deprived of their right to a fair trial by the trial court's refusal to conduct a Richardson inquiry, and noted that the error was not subject to harmless error analysis. The District Court offered no opinion as to whether the preclusion of harmless error analysis was inappropriate in this case, nor any opinion as to whether the error would have proven harmless if that analysis had been conducted. Moreover, the District Court did not, as it is free

to do, certify a question to this Court as to whether harmless error doctrine should apply in such cases. In fact, the District Court denied the State's motion to certify the precise question as to whether the harmless error doctrine should be applied to cases in which the trial court has refused a Richardson inquiry. (A 8) State's argument in its Jurisdictional Brief is simply a repetition of the motion to certify a question that was denied by the District Court. (A 9-14) It would thus appear that the State's request for this Court's exercise of its jurisdiction in this case, is founded upon the State's desire to avoid a retrial, rather than the need for resolution of a legal issue.

simple "Gotcha" maneuver. State v. Belien, 379 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

4. Another factor to be considered as to a harmless error review, concerns footnote 3 of this Honorable Court's opinion. The State's analysis to this point has been based upon the assumption that the alleged subpoena duces tecum was in fact served upon Dr. Tokarski. However, as the State argued in its brief (p.12), where an insufficient record has been provided to the reviewing court, error cannot be presumed. Howel v. State, 337 So. 2d 823, 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); Yearty v. State, 354 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). The burden is on the appellant to produce a sufficient record to demonstrate reversible error. State v. G.P., 588 So. 2d 253, 254 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), citing Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

The State respectfully submits that the absence of this subpoena from the record is highly significant, particularly in light of the aforementioned tactics by the defense. Its existence, or lack thereof, would be a factor to consider under a harmless error analysis. Given the victim's contraction of chlamydia, which was the defense's primary concern, and rightfully so, the failure to disclose the colposcopic photograph was harmless error.

In accordance with the foregoing facts, authorities and reasoning, Appellee respectfully requests this Honorable Court to join its sister court and certify the question currently pending before the Florida Supreme Court in Schopp v. State, supra. The State further requests this Court to stay its mandate pending the Florida Supreme Court's resolution of the certified question.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Fla. Bar #0471852

444 Seabreeze Boulevard

Fifth Floor

Daytona Beach, FL 32118

(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing MOTION TO CERTIFY has been furnished by hand delivery to JAMES T. COOK and NOEL PELELLA, Counsels for Appellants, Office of the Public Defender, via his basket at the Fifth District Court of Appeal, this 7th day of December, 1994.

MARK S. DUNN

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, and the authorities cited therein, Appellant respectfully requests that the Florida Supreme Court decline the exercise of its jurisdiction to review the ruling of the District Court in this case.